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INTRODUCTION 
 

 
 
This compendium tracks and summarizes the majority of enforcement actions brought by the SEC against investment advisers since 
January 1, 2006.  Each entry includes the SEC�s release number and date to facilitate locating the full-text documents on the SEC�s 
website, as being an Administrative Proceeding, Commission Opinion or Initial Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Decision.  The 
remaining releases are posted on Westlawfi.   
 
The compendium is arranged in reverse chronological order to assist the reader in identifying specific trends in SEC enforcement 
proceedings.  It also includes a �Topics� column to assist readers searching for particular types of cases.  Another column titled 
"Allegations" contains a summary of the facts as alleged or found by the Commission or an ALJ.  The allegations are reported in the 
past tense and have been described as allegations because many times defendants settle proceedings or accept consent judgments 
without admitting or denying the version of the facts reported by the Commission.  This information is provided purely as a restatement 
of the Commission's perspective of acts that deserve sanctions and is not intended to reflect any statement as to the actual occurrence or 
non-occurrence of the incidents included. 
 
The compendium is updated periodically to provide readers with as current information as possible.  It represents a summary of publicly 
available reports, but is not intended to convey any legal conclusions or advice.   
 
Please feel free to communicate any comments or suggestions to us.  Your input and inquiries are welcome. 
 
 
 

Richard A. Levan 

Conor L. Mullan 

 
 



 

 
 

RICHARD A. LEVAN, Esquire, is a leading authority on the legal and regulatory obligations of Investment 
Advisers and Broker-Dealers, as well as on the reporting and compliance obligations of public companies and 
private funds.  Before establishing his own firm, Mr. Levan was a partner at the law firm of Drinker Biddle & Reath 
LLP in Philadelphia, where he co-chaired both the firm�s Securities Litigation & Regulation Group and its Financial 
Services Integration Group. He has also served as a senior official in the SEC�s Philadelphia office, and as an 
Assistant U.S. Attorney in the Department of Justice in Washington, D.C.  Mr. Levan is chair of the Securities 
Regulation Committee of the Philadelphia Bar Association.  He also serves as a member of the Pennsylvania 
Securities Commission�s Attorney Advisory Committee.   
 
Mr. Levan writes frequently on matters affecting the securities industry and has been quoted in such publications as The Wall Street 
Journal, The American Banker, Business Week, Bloomberg News, Smart Money, IA Week, The National Law Journal and Dow Jones 
News Service. He has also appeared on CNN and NBC Nightly News with Tom Brokaw. He is a featured speaker at national 
compliance and regulatory conferences sponsored by such organizations as the National Society of Compliance Professionals, National 
Regulatory Services, American Bar Association, Society of Financial Service Professionals, NASD/Wharton Institute, Pennsylvania Bar 
Institute and Investment Adviser Week.  In addition to his extensive compliance and counseling background, Mr. Levan has over twenty 
years� experience handling civil and criminal cases initiated by such entities as the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission, state securities and insurance agencies and self-regulatory organizations such as the NASD, the New York 
Stock Exchange, and the Philadelphia Stock Exchange.  
 
Mr. Levan graduated with honors from both the University of Pennsylvania (B.A. cum laude with Distinction in History, 1979) and the 
George Washington University's National Law Center (J.D. cum laude, 1982), after which he clerked for the Honorable John A. Terry 
of the District of Columbia Court of Appeals. He is a former Chair of the American Bar Association's Financial Services Integration 
Committee, a national group addressing the unique compliance and regulatory issues confronting banks, securities firms and insurance 
companies today. 
 
Mr. Levan can be contacted at: 
Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC 
Two Penn Center Plaza, Suite 1422 
1500 John F. Kennedy Blvd. 
Philadelphia, PA 19102 
Telephone: 215-568-9840 
E-mail: rlevan@rlevan.com
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of National 
Investment Advisors, Inc., and 
Douglas A. Jimerson, Rel. No. 
IA-2689, Admin. Proc. No. 3-
12915 (December 27, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings against 
National Investment Advisors, Inc. (�NIA�), and its principal, 
Douglas A. Jimerson, alleging that NIA marketed and sold 
insured investment programs that purported to guarantee 
clients against loss of principal if they kept their assets with 
NIA for a fixed period of time.  According to the Commission, 
between 2002 and 2005, NIA enrolled clients in three insured 
investment programs that either lacked appropriate insurance 
coverage or insurance coverage at all.  The Commission�s 
complaint alleged that NIA failed to obtain any insurance 
coverage for its first insured investment program.  According 
to the Commission, NIA purchased errors and omissions 
insurance for the following two programs -- rather than 
financial guarantee insurance that would have covered the 
clients against losses to principal -- and falsely marketed those 
programs as being able to protect against a loss of principal.  
The Commission further alleged that NIA failed to disclose to 
its clients material information regarding its precarious 
financial condition and failed to maintain certain books and 
records.   
 

 
Section 10(b) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder, and 
Sections 206(1), 
206(2), 206(4) and 
207 of the Advisers 
Act and Rules 204-
2(c)(1), 206(4)-1(a)(5) 
and 206(4)-4(a)(1) 
thereunder.   

 
Respondent NIA consented 
to the entry of a C&D order, 
and an order revoking its 
registration as an investment 
adviser.  Respondent 
Jimerson consented to the 
entry of a C&D order, and 
an order barring him from 
associating with an 
investment adviser.  The 
respondents consented to 
pay, jointly and severally, 
$553,557.11 in 
disgorgement and interest, 
but such payment was 
waived by the Commission 
due to the respondents� 
sworn financial condition.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Books & Records 
• Disclosure  
• Insured 

Investment 
Programs 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of David W. Knall, 
Rel. No. IA-2688, Admin. Proc. 
No. 3-12914 (Dec. 27, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the entry of a judgment by consent against Knall on 
December 12, 2007.  The Commission�s complaint alleged 
that Knall, a managing director and investment adviser at 
Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Inc., a registered broker-dealer 
and adviser, and former managing director at McDonald 
Investment Inc., another broker-dealer and investment adviser, 
violated the Exchange Act by trading on material nonpublic 
information.  Specifically, the Commission alleged that Knall 
possessed information relating to Dick�s Sporting Goods, 
Inc.�s intention to acquire Galyan�s Trading Company, Inc., 
that he knew was nonpublic and had been acquired directly 
from a Dicks� representative, and purchased 10,000 shares of 
Galyan�s stock on June 16, 2004, to cover a previously 
established short position in his personal brokerage account.  
According to the Commission, by covering his short position 
before Dicks made its intention to acquire Galyan public on 
June 21, 2004, Knall was able to avoid $55,281 in losses. 
 

 
Section 14(e) of the 
Exchange Act.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of an order 
suspending him from 
associating with a broker, 
dealer, or investment 
adviser for 12 months.   

 
• Insider Trading  



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 

 
  
    
 

6 

CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Robert Ray 
White Samples, Rel. No. IA-
2687, Admin. Proc. No. 3-12912 
(Dec. 27, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the entry of a judgment by consent against Samples 
on December 11, 2007, enjoining him from future violations of 
the federal securities laws.  According to the Commission�s 
complaint, Samples, the owner of Pot O� Gold Financial 
Services, LLC (�POG�), used material misrepresentations to 
raise over $1.2 million from 34 investors, including seniors, in 
two pooled investment schemes.  The Commission further 
alleged that Samples misappropriated a large portion of the 
funds to pay for personal expenses, and sent false account 
statements indicating that investors� funds were fully invested 
and earning returns.  The Commission also alleged that 
Samples sold unregistered securities and acted as an 
unregistered investment adviser.   
 

 
Sections 5(a), 5(c), 
and 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, 
Sections 10(b) and 
15(a) of the Exchange 
Act and Rule 10b-5 
thereunder, and 
Sections 206(1) and 
206(2) of the Advisers 
Act.    

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of an order barring 
him from associating with 
any broker, dealer, or 
investment adviser.   

 
• Misappropriation 
• Misrepresentation  

 
In the Matter of George J. 
Sandhu, Rel. No. IA-2685, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12910 (Dec. 
21, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the entry of a permanent injunction against Sandhu 
on November 26, 2007, enjoining him from future violations 
of the securities laws.  According to the Commission�s 
complaint, Sandhu, formerly an associated person with the 
registered investment adviser International Investment Group, 
LLC, participated in a scheme to defraud investors by writing 
two letters to Universal Express, Inc., that falsely represented 
financial commitments to the company.  According to the 
Commission, Universal Express, in turn, used the false letters 
as a basis to issue misleading press releases which resulted in 
increases in the company�s stock price and trading volume.  
The Commission further alleged that Sandhu participated in 
the offer and sale of shares of Universal Express common 
stock through brokerage accounts of third parties when no 
registration statement was in effect.    
 

 
Sections 5(a), 5(c), 
and 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, and 
Section 10(b) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder.   

 
Pending  

 
• Misrepresentation  
• Unregistered 

Securities 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Morgan Stanley 
& Co., Inc., Rel. No. IC-28078, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12907 (Dec. 
18, 2007).   
 
 
See also, In the Matter of Marc 
H. Plotkin, Rel. No. IA-2683, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12906 (Dec. 
18, 2007).   
 

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Morgan Stanley DW Inc., (�MSDW�) violated 
the federal securities laws by, inter alia, failing to supervise 
representatives who engaged in deceptive trading practices 
designed to circumvent mutual funds� restrictions on market 
timing between 2002 and 2003.  According to the 
Commission, four MSDW financial advisors, at three MSDW 
offices, opened multiple MSDW accounts on behalf of hedge 
fund clients, and circumvented mutual funds� restrictions on 
market timing by using accounts not restricted by mutual funds 
to place market timing trades, trading under different financial 
advisor ID numbers, and placing market-timing trades through 
variable annuity contracts.  According to the Commission, 
MSDW failed to reasonably supervise these employees and 
had inadequate policies and procedures in place to prevent and 
detect their misconduct.  The Commission further alleged that 
MSDW violated Rule 22c-1(a) of the Investment Company 
Act by allowing the advisers, as well as MSDW Mutual Fund 
Operations Department employees, to place, cancel, or amend 
trades for customers after the market close and receive the 
same day�s NAV, and also failed to keep certain books and 
records relating to these trades.  The Commission alleged that 
MSDW made approximately $4,400,000 from the advisors� 
market timing practices.  
   

 
Section 17(a)(1) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 17a-3 
thereunder, and Rule 
22c-1(a) under the 
Investment Company 
Act.  

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of a C&D order, 
and agreed to pay 
$5,120,000 in disgorgement 
and interest, and a 
$11,880,000 penalty.   

 
• Books & Records  
• Failure to 

Supervise 
• Market Timing  
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Marc H. Plotkin, 
Rel. No. IA-2683, Admin. Proc. 
No. 3-12906 (Dec. 18, 2007).   
 
 
See also, In the Matter of 
Morgan Stanley & Co., Inc., Rel. 
No. IC-28078, Admin. Proc. No. 
3-12907 (Dec. 18, 2007).   
 

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Plotkin, a financial advisor with Morgan Stanley 
DW Inc., (�MSDW�) from 2000 to 2003, substantially assisted 
another MSDW advisor in market timing various mutual funds 
on behalf of two hedge fund customers.  According to the 
Commission, Plotkin engaged in deceptive trading practices 
designed to circumvent mutual funds� restrictions, such as 
using multiple accounts to place trades, using multiple 
financial advisor identification numbers, and placing trades in 
variable annuity contracts from issuers that held mutual funds 
in their underlying sub-accounts.  According to the 
Commission, these practices made it difficult to detect 
Plotkin�s trading activities.  The Commission further alleged 
that Plotkin knew that his trading practices were deceptive.   
 

 
Section 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, and 
Section 10(b) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of a C&D order, 
an order barring him from 
associating with a broker, 
dealer, or investment 
adviser for one year, and 
agreed to pay a $90,000 
penalty.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Market timing  

 

 
In the Matter of James Doolan, 
Rel. No. IA-2682, Admin. Proc. 
No. 3-12904 (Dec. 14, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the entry of a judgment against the respondent on 
December 4, 2007, enjoining him from future violations of the 
federal securities laws.  According to the Commission, 
Doolan, an associated person with Maxim Group LLC, a 
registered broker-dealer that also operated a registered 
investment advisor, Maxim Financial Advisors LLC, received 
undisclosed compensation for soliciting customer purchases of 
Smart Online, Inc., stock.   
 

 
Section 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, and 
Section 10(b) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of an order barring 
him from associating with a 
broker, dealer, or 
investment adviser.   

 
• Disclosure  
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Founding 
Partners Capital Management 
Company and William Gunlicks, 
Rel. No. IA-2680, Admin. Proc. 
3-12896 (Dec. 3, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings against 
Founding Partners Capital Management Company, a registered 
investment advisor to three hedge funds, and its president, 
CEO and sole shareholder, William Gunlicks, alleging, among 
other things, that the respondents made misleading disclosures 
regarding related-party transactions.  According to the 
Commission, the hedge funds managed by the respondents 
engaged in transactions that were inconsistent with the funds� 
confidential offering memoranda, including, inter alia, loans 
and undisclosed payments to a related entity, and investments 
by one of the respondents� funds in another fund managed by 
respondents (resulting in two layers of management fees).     
  

 
Section 17(a)(2) of the 
Securities Act.   

 
Both respondents consented 
to the entry of a C&D order.  
Respondent Founding 
Partners Capital 
Management also consented 
to the entry of a censure, 
and agreed to pay $182,244 
in disgorgement and 
prejudgment interest, and a 
$100,000 penalty.   

 
• Disclosure  
• Hedge Fund 
• Related Party 

Transactions  
 

 
In the Matter of David A. 
Dadante, Rel. No. IA-2678, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12894 (Nov. 
29, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the entry of a permanent injunction by consent 
against Dadante on November 1, 2007, enjoining him from 
future violations of the securities laws.  According to the 
Commission�s complaint, Dadante, a general partner and 
unregistered investment adviser to the IPOF Fund, and 
unregistered investment company, raised approximately $50 
million from 110 investors in IPOF and misappropriated those 
funds.  Specifically, the Commission alleged that Dadante 
lured investors with promises that he would invest their funds 
in low-risk high-return trading strategies, but, instead, operated 
IPOF as a Ponzi scheme, misappropriated funds for personal 
use, and pursued an undisclosed high-risk investment strategy.   
 

 
Section 5(a), 5(c), and 
17(a) of the Securities 
Act, Section 10(b) of 
the Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder, and 
Sections 206(1) and 
206(2) of the Advisers 
Act.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of an order barring 
him from associating with 
any investment adviser.   

 
• Disclosure  
• Misappropriation  
• Misrepresentation  
• Ponzi Scheme  
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Andrew A. 
Srebnik, Rel. No. IA-2677, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12893 (Nov. 
20, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the entry of a permanent injunction by consent 
against Srebnik on November 14, 2007, enjoining him from 
future violations of antifraud provisions of the securities laws.  
According to the Commission�s complaint, Srebnik, a 
registered representative with Bear, Sterns & Co., a broker-
dealer and investment adviser, engaged in an insider trading 
scheme in which he used material, nonpublic information 
concerning upcoming UBS Securities LLC analyst 
recommendations to purchase and sell securities in a personal 
account.   
 

 
Section 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, and 
Section 10(b) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of an order barring 
him from associating with 
any broker, dealer, or 
investment adviser.  

 
• Insider Trading  

 
In the Matter of Charles N. 
Watson, Rel. No. IA-2676, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12885 (Nov. 
2, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following Watson�s guilty plea to one count of money 
laundering on April 21, 2006.  On September 28, 2006, 
Watson was sentenced to a prison term of 50 months and 3 
years probation, and ordered to make restitution of $6,624,000.  
According to the criminal information, Watson, a registered 
representative with an entity that was registered with the 
Commission as a broker-dealer and registered with the State of 
West Virginia as an investment adviser, engaged in a scheme 
to defraud investors by offering and selling limited partnership 
interests in two hedge funds he formed, Global Capital Fund, 
Ltd., and Summit Capital Trading, LLC.  In his plea 
agreement, Watson admitted to raising $6,813,500 from at 
least 36 investors and spent $1.4 million for personal use, gave 
$745,000 to another individual associated with Global Capital, 
and loaned $841,000 to two other entities.  Watson�s plea 
agreement further stated, inter alia, that he mailed false 
financial statements containing inflated rates of return to 
investors and failed to disclose large trading losses and his 
misuse of investor funds.     
 

 
18 U.S.C. § 1957 

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of an order barring 
him from associating with 
any broker, dealer, or 
investment adviser.   

 
• Criminal Referral  
• Disclosure 
• Hedge Fund 
• Misappropriation  
• Misrepresentation  
 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Geoffrey Brod, 
Rel. No. IA-2673, Admin. Proc. 
No. 3-12611 (Oct. 24, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Brod, a former portfolio manager at Aeltus 
Investment Management, LLC (now known as ING 
Investment Management Co.), violated the Investment 
Company Act by failing to disclose his personal trading in 
stocks of companies held or to be acquired by mutual funds 
under his management.  According to the Commission, Brod 
engaged in approximately 3,500 short-term personal trades 
from 1999 to 2003 that he concealed by submitting false 
internal securities transaction reports to Aeltus, and falsely 
certified his compliance with Aeltus� Code of Ethics.   
 

 
Section 17(j) of the 
Investment Company 
Act and Rules 17j-
1(b) and 17j-1(d) 
thereunder.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of a C&D order, 
an order barring him from 
associating with any 
investment adviser and 
agreed to pay $75,000 in 
disgorgement and interest 
and a $100,000 penalty.   

 
• Disclosure 
 

 
In the Matter of Anthony M. 
Ramunno, Jr., Rel. No. IA-2672, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12742 (Oct. 
17, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following Ramunno�s guilty plea to one count each of wire 
fraud and mail fraud on May 1, 2007.  According to the 
criminal indictment, Ramunno, the president and majority 
owner of Renaissance Asset Management, LLC (�RAM�), a 
pooled investment vehicle, defrauded RAM investors by 
failing to disclose that he was consistently losing money, that 
he was not generating profits, and that he was misapprop-
riating funds for personal use.  The indictment further alleged 
that Ramunno created and distributed false account statements 
and forged opinion letters from a national public accounting 
firm.   
 

 
Section 203(f) of the 
Advisers Act.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of an order barring 
him from associating with 
any investment adviser.    

 
• Disclosure 
• Hedge Fund  
• Mail & Wire 

Fraud 
• Misappropriation  
• Misrepresentation  
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Stephen J. 
McLaughlin, Rel. No. IA-2671, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12867 (Oct. 
17, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the entry of a judgment by consent against 
McLaughlin on October 5, 2007, enjoining him from future 
violations of the securities laws.  According to the 
Commission�s complaint, McLaughlin, a former senior vice 
president of New England Financial (NEF), an insurance 
company subsidiary of MetLife, Inc., and an associated person 
of New England Securities Corporation, a NEF subsidiary that 
is registered with the Commission as both a broker-dealer and 
investment adviser, engaged in a scheme to improperly hide 
NEF expenses that led directly to the publication of materially 
false financial statements by MetLife and NEF.  Specifically, 
the complaint alleged that McLaughlin took part in a scheme 
to hide certain non-commission expenses by improperly 
authorizing the reclassification of those expenses as 
commissions, which resulted in the improper reclassification 
of over $100 million in NEF expenses over a period of several 
years.   
 

 
Section 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, 
Sections 10(b), 13(a), 
13(b)(5), 13(b)(2)(A), 
13(b)(2)(B) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 
13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13 
and 13b2-1 
thereunder, and 
Section 34(b) of the 
Investment Company 
Act.  

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of an order 
suspending him from 
associating with a broker, 
dealer, or investment 
adviser for 12 months.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting 
• Books & Records  
• False Financials  
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Sandell Asset 
Management Corp., Lars Eric 
Thomas Sandell, Patrick T. 
Burke and Richard F. Ecklord, 
Rel. No. IA-2670, Admin. Proc. 
No. 3-12865 (Oct. 10, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Sandell Asset Management Corp. (�SAM�), a 
hedge fund adviser, its CEO Thomas Sandell, and two other 
SAM employees engaged in improper short sales in 
connection with the securities of Hibernia Corporation, a New 
Orleans-based financial services company.  According to the 
Commission�s complaint, SAM established a large long 
position in Hibernia in the first half of 2005 in response to an 
announced merger between Hibernia and Capital One.  The 
Commission alleged that, in the aftermath of Hurricane 
Katrina, SAM personnel speculated that Capital One would 
lower its offering price for Hibernia shares, which would cause 
a significant loss to a fund managed by SAM. According to the 
Commission, in an attempt to offset this loss, SAM personnel 
sold short 9,274,250 shares of Hibernia on August 31, 2005, 
but marked the sales orders as �long,� which alleviated the 
need to locate shares available to borrow and violated Rule 
10a-1 of the Exchange Act.  The Commission further alleged 
that SAM personnel, at the direction of Sandell, executed more 
short sales on September 2, 2005, despite the fact that they 
were unable to locate any Hibernia shares to borrow and 
misrepresented to the broker-dealers who executed the trades 
that they had located stock to borrow in violation of Section 
17(a)(2) of the Securities Act.  The Commission also alleged 
that Sandell violated Section 203 of the Advisers Act by 
failing to supervise firm personnel.  According to the 
Commission, SAM avoided over $6.5 million in losses by 
placing the August 31 and September 2 short sales when there 
was no stock available to borrow, as opposed to waiting until 
there was stock available.   
 

 
Section 10(a) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10a-1 
thereunder, Section 
17(a)(2) of the 
Securities Act, and 
Section 203(e)(6) of 
the Advisers Act.    

 
Respondent Sandell Asset 
Management consented to 
the entry of a C&D order, a 
censure, and agreed to pay 
$6,716,683.93 in 
disgorgement and a 
$650,000 penalty.  
Respondent Sandell 
consented to the entry of a 
censure, and agreed to pay a 
$100,000 penalty.  
Respondents Burke and 
Ecklord consented to the 
entry of a censure, and 
agreed to pay a penalty of 
$40,000.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Failure to 

Supervise  
• Misrepresentation  
• Short Sales 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Gary M. 
Kornman, Rel. No. ID-335, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12716 (Oct. 
9, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the respondent�s guilty plea to one count of making 
false statements to the SEC in connection with an investigation 
into his trades in MiniMed common stock.  Based on his guilty 
plea, the ALJ found that Kornman, the owner of Heritage 
Securities Corporation, a registered broker-dealer, and owner 
of a limited liability company that served as an investment 
adviser to two Kornman-controlled hedge funds, falsely stated 
to the SEC that he did not know who possessed trading 
authority over the brokerage account for a hedge fund through 
which he conducted trading in MiniMed.  However, in the 
factual resume accompanying Kornman�s plea agreement, 
Kornman admitted that the statement was false and that he 
knew that he personally had trading authority over the 
brokerage account.  Accordingly, the ALJ found that 
Kornman�s conduct, which involved a high degree of scienter 
and dishonesty, required an industry bar.       
 

 
18 U.S.C. § 1001.   

 
The ALJ entered an order 
barring the respondent from 
associating with any broker, 
dealer, or investment 
adviser.   

 
• False Statement to 

the SEC 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Consulting 
Services Group, LLC, and Joe D. 
Meals, Rel. No. IA-2669, Admin. 
Proc. No.  3-12863 (Oct. 4, 
2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Consulting Services Group, LLC (�CSG�), a 
registered investment adviser, and Joe Meals, CSG�s chief 
compliance officer, failed to adopt complaint investment 
adviser code of ethics and written policies and procedures.  
The Commission alleged that CSG�s code of ethics that were 
in place prior to March 2005 failed to require supervised 
persons to execute written acknowledgement of receipt of 
CSG�s code of ethics, as required by Rule 204A-1 of the 
Advisers Act.  The Commission alleged that, in response to a 
deficiency letter to CSG that reminded CSG of the Rule 204A-
1 requirement -- which had a compliance date of February 
2005 � Meals began delivering the written acknowledgment to 
CSG�s supervised persons as late as May 2005 with 
instructions to backdate the forms to falsely indicate that CSG 
had timely complied with Rule 204A-1.  The Commission 
further alleged that CSG�s written policies and procedures 
were not reasonably designed to prevent violations of the 
Advisers Act.  Specifically, the Commission alleged, inter 
alia, that CSG�s written procedures, which were purchased by 
Meals as a pre-packaged template designed for advisers 
offering discretionary money management services, failed to 
take into consideration conflicts of interest unique to CSG�s 
operations as a pension consultant.   
  

 
Sections 204 and 
206(4) of the Advisers 
Act and Rules 204-
2(a)(12), 204A-
1(a)(5), and 206(4)-7.   

 
Respondent Consulting 
Services Group, LLC, 
consented to the entry of a 
C&D order, a censure, and 
agreed to pay a $20,000 
penalty.  Respondent Meals 
consented to the entry of a 
C&D order, a censure, 
agreed to pay a $10,000 
penalty, and an order 
barring him from 
associating with a broker, 
dealer or investment 
adviser.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting 
• Books & Records  
• Written Policies 

and Procedures 
 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Smith Barney 
Fund Management LLC, Rel. 
No. IA-2666, Admin. Proc. No. 
3-12855 (Sept. 28, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Smith Barney Fund Management LLC (�Smith 
Barney�) failed to adequately disclose the source of 89 closed-
end fund distributions by three funds it managed.  The 
Commission alleged that the funds violated Section 19(a) and 
Rule 19a-1 of the Investment Company Act, which prohibits 
closed-end funds from paying distributions from any source 
other than net income without a contemporaneous written 
disclosure, by paying distributions from shareholder capital.   
Pursuant to an advisory agreement between Smith Barney and 
the funds, Smith Barney was responsible for providing Section 
19(a) disclosures to shareholders.  The Commission therefore 
alleged that Smith Barney caused and willfully aided and 
abetted the funds� violation.  The Commission also alleged 
that Smith Barney violated Section 34(b) of the Investment 
Company Act by filing misleading annual reports that implied 
that distributions were from the funds� net income.    
 

 
Sections 19(a) and 
34(b) of the 
Investment Company 
Act and Rule 19a-1 
thereunder.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of a C&D order 
and agreed to pay a 
$450,000 penalty.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Disclosure 

 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Salomon 
Brothers Asset Management Inc., 
Rel. No. IA-2665, Admin. Proc. 
No. 3-12854 (Sept. 28, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Salomon Brothers Asset Management Inc. 
(�Salomon Brothers�) failed to adequately disclose the source 
of 47 closed-end fund distributions by two funds it managed.  
The Commission alleged that the funds violated Section 19(a) 
and Rule 19a-1 of the Investment Company Act, which 
prohibits closed-end funds from paying distributions from any 
source other than net income without a contemporaneous 
written disclosure, by paying distributions from shareholder 
capital.   Pursuant to an advisory agreement between Salomon 
Brothers and the funds, Salomon Brothers was responsible for 
providing Section 19(a) disclosures to shareholders.  The 
Commission therefore alleged that Salomon Brothers caused 
and willfully aided and abetted the funds� violation.  The 
Commission also alleged that Salomon Brothers violated 
Section 34(b) of the Investment Company Act by filing 
misleading annual reports that implied that distributions were 
from the funds� net income.    
 

 
Sections 19(a) and 
34(b) of the 
Investment Company 
Act and Rule 19a-1 
thereunder.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of a C&D order 
and agreed to pay a 
$450,000 penalty.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Disclosure 
 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Putnam 
Investment Management, LLC, 
Rel. No. IA-2664, Admin. Proc. 
No. 3-12853 (Sept. 28, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Putnam Investment Management, LLC 
(�Putnam�) failed to adequately disclose the source of 42 
closed-end fund distributions by four funds it managed.  The 
Commission alleged that the funds violated Section 19(a) and 
Rule 19a-1 of the Investment Company Act, which prohibits 
closed-end funds from paying distributions from any source 
other than net income without a contemporaneous written 
disclosure, by paying distributions from shareholder capital.   
Pursuant to an advisory agreement between Putnam and the 
funds, Putnam was responsible for providing Section 19(a) 
disclosures to shareholders.  The Commission therefore 
alleged that Putnam caused and willfully aided and abetted the 
funds� violation.   
 

 
Section 19(a) of the 
Investment Company 
Act and Rule 19a-1 
thereunder.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of a C&D order 
and agreed to pay a 
$350,000 penalty.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Disclosure 
 

 
In the Matter of 
AllianceBernstein, L.P., Rel. No. 
IA-2663, Admin. Proc. No. 3-
12852 (Sept. 28, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that AllianceBernstein, L.P., failed to adequately 
disclose the source of 22 closed-end fund distributions by two 
funds it managed.  The Commission alleged that the funds 
violated Section 19(a) and Rule 19a-1 of the Investment 
Company Act, which prohibits closed-end funds from paying 
distributions from any source other than net income without a 
contemporaneous written disclosure, by paying distributions 
from shareholder capital or capital gains.   Pursuant to an 
advisory agreement between AllianceBernstein and the funds, 
AllianceBernstein was responsible for providing Section 19(a) 
disclosures to shareholders.  The Commission therefore 
alleged that AllianceBernstein caused and willfully aided and 
abetted the funds� violation.   
 

 
Section 19(a) of the 
Investment Company 
Act and Rule 19a-1 
thereunder.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of a C&D order 
and agreed to pay a 
$450,000 penalty.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Disclosure 
 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Steven Andrew 
Roberts, Rel. No. IA-2662, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12840 (Sept. 
27, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Roberts, the manager for three hedge funds and 
the co-owner of the funds� managing member, Excalibur 
Partners, LLC, a registered investment adviser, made an 
unauthorized transfer of monies from one fund to another.  
Specifically, the Commission alleged that on April 26, 2006, 
Roberts liquidated $2 million in one fund�s (�A Fund�) 
holdings in order to satisfy part of a $4.8 million redemption 
request by an investor in another fund (�C Fund�).  On May 
17, 2006, Roberts caused most of the $2 million to be returned 
to the A Fund.  The Commission also alleged that Roberts 
made material misstatements concerning his educational 
background in the funds� offering memoranda.  
 

 
Section 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, 
Section 10(b0 of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder, and 
Sections 206(1) and 
206(2) of the Advisers 
Act.   

 
The respondent consented to 
the entry of a C&D order, 
an order barring him from 
associating with any 
investment adviser with the 
right to reapply after 3 
years, an order prohibiting 
him from serving as an 
employee, officer, or 
director of an investment 
company, and agreed to pay 
a $35,000 penalty.   

 
• Hedge Fund 
• Misrepresentation  
 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Mutuals.com, 
Inc., Connely Dowd 
Management, Inc., MTT 
Fundcorp, Inc., Richard Sapio, 
Eric McDonald, and Michele 
Leftwich, Rel. No. IA-2661, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12837 (Sept. 
26, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that Mutuals.com, Inc., a dually registered broker-
dealer and investment adviser, and two of the firm�s broker-
dealer subsidiaries, Connely Dowd Management, Inc., and 
MTT Fundcorp, Inc., and Mutual.com�s three principals, 
Richard Sapio, Eric McDonald and Michele Leftwich, 
defrauded hundreds of mutual funds and their shareholders by 
engaging in deceptive activities designed to circumvent market 
timing restrictions imposed by those mutual funds.  
Specifically, the Commission alleged that, in response to the 
mutual funds� efforts to restrict the respondents market timing 
trades, the respondents circumvented those restrictions through 
the use of: multiple accounts established for the same client; 
multiple registered representative numbers established for the 
same registered representative; multiple branch codes for the 
same physical location; affiliated broker-dealers; and multiple 
clearing broker-dealers.  The Commission also alleged that the 
respondents defrauded some of the same mutual funds and 
their shareholders by engaging in late trading in the funds� 
shares.   
 

 
Section 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, 
Sections 10(b) and 
15(c)(1) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder, Rule 22c-
1 under the 
Investment Company 
Act.   

 
All of the respondents 
consented to the entry of a 
C&D order.  Respondents 
Mutuals.com, Inc., Connely 
Dowd Management, Inc., 
and MTT Fundcorp, Inc., 
agreed to pay, jointly and 
severally, $5,623,290 in 
disgorgement and interest.  
Respondent Sapio consented 
to the entry of an order 
barring him from 
associating with any broker, 
dealer, or investment 
adviser, and agreed to pay 
$68,729 in disgorgement 
and interest and a $120,000 
penalty.  Respondents 
McDonald and Leftwich 
agreed to pay $70,693 and 
$47,232 in disgorgement 
and interest, respectively.     

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Late Trading  
• Market Timing  
 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of C.R. Williams, 
Inc., and Charles Russell 
Williams II, Rel. No. IA-2660, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12834 (Sept. 
26, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
alleging that C.R. Williams, Inc., (�CRW�), a registered 
investment adviser, and its president, CEO and majority owner 
Charles Williams, violated books and records provisions of the 
Advisers Act.  Specifically, the Commission alleged that the 
respondents failed to keep: cash receipt journals, disbursement 
records, financial statements relating to its investment adviser 
business, and other required documents.  The Commission 
further alleged that CRW failed to file a 2005 and a 2006 
annual report, and failed to timely file a form ADV-W after it 
became ineligible for registration with the Commission.  The 
Commission also noted that Williams has a history of 
disregarding the books and records provisions of the Advisers 
Act and entered a settlement with the Commission in 1996 
based on his alleged failure to keep the same books and 
records as alleged in instant proceedings.   
      

 
Sections 203A and 
204 of the Advisers 
Act and Rules 203A-
1(b)(2), 204-1(a)(1), 
204-2(a)(1), 204-
2(a)(2), and 204-
2(a)(6).   

 
Pending.   

 
• Aiding & Abetting  
• Books & Records 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS 

RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Kangsan Kim, 
Rel. No. IA-2659, Admin. Proc. 
No. 3-12835 (Sept. 26, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following Kim�s guilty plea to one count of wire fraud on 
March 6, 2007.  On September 17, 2007, Kim was sentenced 
to a 52-month prison term, followed by three years of 
supervised release, and ordered to make restitution of 
approximately $3.8 million.  The order to which Kim pleaded 
guilty alleged that Kim, the president of Unus Capital 
Management, Inc., a investment adviser, and the CFO of 
Peoplen Investment, Inc., which purported to be a brokerage 
house through which Unus clients could buy and sell 
securities,  executed a scheme to defraud investors and to 
obtain money from investors through misrepresentations and 
concealment of material facts.  The order further alleged that, 
contrary to representations, Kim misappropriated investor 
monies for personal use and used some investor monies to 
operate a Ponzi scheme.   
 

 
18 U.S.C. § 1343.     

 
Pending. 

 
• Misappropriation 
• Misrepresentation  
• Ponzi Scheme 
• Wire Fraud 
 



 

 Ó 2008 Richard A. Levan & Associates, PC.   
All rights reserved. 
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CASE NAME ALLEGATIONS STATUTORY 

PROVISIONS 
RESOLUTION/ 
CURRENT STATUS 

TOPICS 

 
In the Matter of Justin F. 
Ficken, Rel No. IA-2657, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12832 (Sept. 
26, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following the entry of an order enjoining Ficken from future 
securities laws violations on September 13, 2007.  According 
to the Commission’s complaint, Ficken, a registered 
representative associated with Prudential Securities, Inc. 
(“PSI” ), a registered broker-dealer and investment adviser, 
took part in a market timing scheme that defrauded more than 
50 mutual fund companies and the funds’  shareholders.  The 
Commission alleged that Ficken and other PSI representatives 
placed thousands of market timing trades worth more than one 
billion dollars from 2001 to 2003.  The Commission further 
alleged that the defendants disguised their identity from the 
mutual funds in order to avoid detection and evade the funds’  
market timing restrictions by using multiple broker 
identification numbers and by opening nearly 200 customer 
accounts under various names for seven of their market timing 
customers.   
 

 
Section 17(a) of the 
Securities Act, and 
Section 10(b) of the 
Exchange Act and 
Rule 10b-5 
thereunder. 

 
Pending. 

 
·  Market Timing  

 
In the Matter of Byron S. 
Rainner, Rel. No. IA-2655, 
Admin. Proc. No. 3-12828 (Sept. 
25, 2007).   

 
The Commission instituted administrative proceedings 
following Rainner’s guilty plea to one count of wire fraud on 
February 9, 2006.  On November 20, 2006, Rainner was 
sentenced to 30 months in prison followed by three years of 
supervised release, and ordered to make restitution of 
$2,036,134.  The indictment alleged that Rainner, a registered 
representative with a life insurance corporation registered with 
the Commission as a broker-dealer and investment adviser, 
devised a scheme to defraud the Sheriff’s Office of Fulton 
County, Georgia, and obtained money and property from the 
Sherriff’s Office by means of materially false representations.   
 

 
18 U.S.C. § 1343.   

 
Pending. 

 
·  Misrepresentation  
·  Wire Fraud  


